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8:30 A.M. TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 8, 2005

MR. HARNETT: Welcome, Heidi. Well, I think we"re
ready to begin, then. This is Bill Harnett from EPA. We"ll
go around the room just -- well, we"ll give you an
introduction around the room. We won"t be able to do this for
every speaker, but we"ll go around once to give you a feel for
who"s here, and then you can go ahead.

You"ll have 15 minutes to make your presentation
in. 1711 give you a warning at the two-minute mark, and then
we will have 15 minutes of questions.

MR. SLIWINSKI: Rob Sliwinski, New York
Department of Environmental Conservation.

MR. WOOD: Mike Wood, Weyerhaeuser Company.

MR. GOLDEN: David Golden, Eastman Chemical.

MS. HARAGAN: Kelly Haragan, Environmental
Integrity Project.

MR. VAN DER VAART: Don van der Vaart, Division of
Air Quality, North Carolina.

MR. VOGEL: Ray Vogel, EPA air office.

MS. KEEVER: Marcie Keever, Our Children®s Earth.

MR. HAGLE: Steve Hagle, Texas Commission on
Environmental Quality.

MS. OWEN: Verena Owen, Lake County Conservation
Alliance of Illinois.

MS. VIDETICH: Callie Videtich, EPA in Denver.
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MR. HITTE: Steve Hitte, EPA, air office.

MS. BROOME: Shannon Broome, Ailr Permitting Forum.

MS. FREEMAN: Lauren Freeman, Hunton & Williams
for the Utility Air Regulatory Group.

MR. MOREHOUSE: Bob Morehouse, ExxonMobil.

MR. LING: Michael Ling, EPA"s air office.

MR. HODANBOSI: Bob Hodanbosi, Ohio EPA.

MR. PALZER: Bob Palzer, Sierra Club.

MR. HARNETT: Heidi, if you have any hard-copy
materials, 1711 give you an e-mail address.

Do you?

MS. HOLLENBACH: Yeah, we will be submitting
written comments as a follow-up.

MR. HARNETT: Okay. 1Is it what you"re reading
from today?

MS. HOLLENBACH: It will be an expanded version
thereof, but I can also send what I am reading today.

MR. HARNETT: Okay. Send it to c-o-x, dot,
shannon, s-h-a-n-n-o-n, at e-c-r, web, all one word,
e-c-r-w-e-b, dot, c-o-m.

MS. HOLLENBACH: Okay.

MR. HARNETT: And Heidi is with the State of
Michigan.

And you can go right ahead and begin.

MS. HOLLENBACH: How"s the volume?
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MR. HARNETT: It"s fine.

MS. HOLLENBACH: Okay. Good morning. 1°m here
representing the Michigan Department of Environmental Quality.
My name is Heidi Hollenbach, and 1"m district supervisor for
the Air Quality Division, Grand Rapids District Office.

I would like to thank the Task Force for the
opportunity to comment on Title V, for the work you are doing
to try to improve the program. It is has and continues to be
a daunting task to incorporate many complex applicable
requirements for each major source to a single umbrella permit
and to identify the appropriate periodic monitoring for those
requirements. Despite the many challenges, however, Michigan
supports the Title V program and believes it has resulted in
real environmental benefit. For this reason, Michigan is
providing testimony today and also supports the testimony of
STAPPA/ALAPCO presented to you yesterday.

First, I would like to provide a little background
information on Michigan®s Title V program and what has worked
well for us. 1 do this in response to some of the previous
testimony regarding problems being encountered in Title V™s
implementation across the country with the hope that it
provides alternative ideas and approaches.

Since its implementation, Michigan has issued 504
initial Title V permits of which 74 have since been voided.

In Michigan, these are called renewable operating permits or
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ROPs. We have four remaining initial Title V applications
that have been delayed due to enforcement action. We are
currently working on modifications, reopening, and renewals,
with 61 renewals issued to date.

Title V permit writing is decentralized in
Michigan. The program is implemented by field staff who are
also responsible for overseeing compliance of these sources
which ensures "real world" permits. A thorough site
inspection is conducted by staff before any Title V permit is
drafted.

Michigan has developed detailed template documents
for the Title V permit and the statement of basis, known as
the staff report. These templates ensure adequate detail and
consistency throughout the state. Michigan has also developed
periodic monitoring guidance to ensure adequate and
appropriate monitoring conditions are included in Title V
permits. Additionally, we have a comprehensive manual that
provides guidance to staff on all aspects of Title V permit
development and public-participation processes.

All applicable requirements are specifically laid
out in the permit. Title V sources are provided up to 30 days
for review of permit conditions before a draft permit is
published for public comment. While this approach may lead to
initial delays in the draft permit, many improvements or

clarifications to requirements are accomplished through this
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interactive process, and the source better understands what is
included in the permit and why. By addressing such issues up
front, the source is much less likely to comment through the
public-comments period or to challenge their permit contents
and avoid some of the same comments being raised on citizen or
EPA review.

Public participation is an important component of
Title V. In Michigan, all draft Title V permits are public
noticed both on website and in the department®s calendar, a
bimonthly publication mailed and e-mailed to a large
constituency. Controversial permits are also noted in the
newspaper and/or through direct mailing. Information
regarding the date by which EPA must receive petitions is also
outlined on the permit web page. All relevant comments
received in the public-comment period or EPA review period,
and any changes made to the permit to address those comments,
are documented in the staff report before the permit becomes
final. Michigan agrees that public participation should
remain a key element in the permitting process.

Michigan provides Internet access to all formal
permit-development documents, including drafts, proposed and
final permits, as well as the staff reports, and maintains all
final Title V permits on our website. It has been our
experience that the more information and guidance that we

provide through the Internet, the less time is spent by all
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parties trying to find or communicate information about
Michigan®s program.

Michigan has a good working relationship with
Region 5. Our contact there provides timely follow-up on
potential program deficiencies and program approval issues.
Region 5 EPA routinely reviews Michigan®s Title V permits
between the 30-day public-comment period and provides comments
during this period. We believe that it is more efficient for
EPA to comment during the public-comment period so all
comments can be considered at the same time. Therefore, we
would recommend that EPA"s review time run concurrently with
the public-comment period to streamline the permit-review
process. |If no comments are received, no further EPA review
would be needed beyond the initial period. However, if
comments are received and changes are made to the permit, an
additional review period could be provided for EPA.

Michigan has a straightforward yet effective
compliance certification form. The responsible official must
certify that the source is in compliance with all permit
conditions except for those specifically identified in an
attached deviation report. We strongly recommend this more
streamlined approach to addressing compliance-certification
requirements. The burden still remains on the source to
review the compliance status on a condition-by-condition basis

and to maintain documentation to support the certification.
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But the form only requires a reporting of deviation. With
this approach, deviation information is not buried in stacks
of paperwork.

Region 5 staff worked with Michigan in the
development of this form to ensure that our process adequately
implements the federal requirements. The deviation-reporting
form requires the source to describe the time and duration of
all deviations, as well as corrective actions, and what
actions were taken to prevent a reoccurrence. The agency
always reserves the right to require the submission of more
detailed reports if staff has any reason to be concerned with
the source®s or client"s history, or with the truth, accuracy,
or completeness of any certification report. All deviation
reports are reviewed by agency staff and a determination made
as to whether deviation will be cited as a violation.

Michigan has developed guidance material, detailed
instruction, and training for sources to ensure that they
exercise due diligence in their Title V certification. In
addition to the deviation reporting, a routine air quality
division inspection includes a thorough review of the source®s
record.

Michigan has seen many benefits arise from the
Title V program. Although not a direct or intended result of
the program, Michigan has seen a reduction in emissions.

Emissions from Title V subject sources have decreased 19
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percent from 1998 to 2003. Many sources made reductions or
accepted more restrictive permit limits to opt out of Title V,
and we continue to see this trend. Emissions from sources
that have opted out of Title V have decreased 26 percent in
that same time period.

Title V has also resulted in better compliance by
major sources. Sources better understand and pay attention to
their permit requirements. Michigan has noted a downward
trend in the number of significant air violations at major
sources and attributes this to sources being required to
certify compliance with all permit requirements.

There®s an improved monitoring -- there is
improved monitoring and record keeping, as well as
self-auditing, that have resulted in sources identifying and
correcting their problems promptly.

In addition, permit conditions are clarified in
the Title V permit so the source, the field inspectors, and
the public, have a better understanding of their intent and
application.

Some improvements to the Title V program are still
needed. First, the revision process is onerous and
confusing. No process should be so convoluted that we have to
spend more time Ffiguring out what category of change an action
falls into than to actually process the change. 1t is often

too difficult to determine the category for a change, and the
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requirements for public review can be excessive. For example,
reopenings to incorporate new federal standards should not
have to go through full public comment since the standards
themselves have recently been through the public-comment
process. We recommended changes be made to the revision
requirements to simplify and better streamline this process.

The second concern Michigan has with the Title V
program is incorporation of MACT standards into the permit.
The complexity and various compliance options, many MACT
standards are exceedingly difficult to incorporate into the
permit format while still maintaining the flexibility intended
in many of the standards. It is not practical or meaningful
to include an entire standard word for word within a Title V
permit, nor is it useful to provide only a single place-holder
requirement. The balancing act between the two extremes is
resource intensive. It iIs our impression that after this
problem was highlighted nationally by many state and local
agencies, EPA agreed to specify within each new MACT standard
what particular requirements within -- to be included in a
Title V permit. This has not happened with the majority of
standards, and EPA has not provided any useful guidance on
incorporating MACT standards for Title V permits.

In conclusion, Michigan has developed an effective
Title V program and has seen benefits from its implementation.

We believe it is too late for EPA to provide standardized
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guidance and template documents, as suggested by others, with
the possible exception of guidance on incorporation of MACT
standards into the Title V permit. We also see the
opportunity for improvements in the Title V permit-revision
process. However, Michigan has worked too hard for too long
to implement Title V and seen too many benefits to now abandon
the program or to support completely undermining the unique
solutions that each regulatory agency has developed and
implemented along the way.

Thank you. And I would be happy to answer any
questions you might have.

MR. HARNETT: Bernie Paul?

MR. PAUL: Good morning, Heidi. This is Bernie
Paul with EIi Lilly.

I"m curious to know if you have reviewed any of
the quarterly or semiannual compliance reports, deviation
reports, and what is your perspective of the nature of the
deviations that are being reported?

Is it primarily emission-limit violations,
paperwork deviations, record-keeping deviations?

What are you seeing as a result of the compliance
reporting that sources are doing?

MS. HOLLENBACH: What we see the majority of
deviations for are primarily record keeping, missed records,

some opportunities where they were to do some type of opacity
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reading that was not done. Things along that nature. We do
occasionally see reports of emission violations, which we
definitely follow up on as a violation. But, typically, a lot
of it is the record-keeping component.

MR. HARNETT: Shannon Broome.

MS. BROOME: Hi, Heidi. My name is Shannon
Broome, and I"ve done a fair amount of permitting in
Michigan.

So I just want -- one thing is to compliment you
on avoiding appeals. We"ve heard some stuff about appeals
yesterday, and one thing that 1 have noticed is that when
people comment on a permit in Michigan, there is a sincere
effort to work things out. So | want to compliment you on
that.

One question | had was on the -- you mentioned
the certification form and the deviations.

Have you been told by EPA that the long form is
required for certifications?

MS. HOLLENBACH: Well, the -- there was a lot of
work back and forth between Michigan and Region 5 in the
development of our form, which we feel still fulfills the
requirements, but it"s not considered a long form. And it
took a while to convince Region 5 that this was an appropriate
way to go. And they did eventually side with us and accept

our form.



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

15

MS. BROOME: And they didn"t mention to you that
RTP"s position has been that either the short form or the long
form is acceptable in that discussion?

MS. HOLLENBACH: We had heard that kind of
feedback, yes.

MS. BROOME: Okay. Great. Thank you.

MS. HOLLENBACH: Uh-huh.

MR. HARNETT: Bob Palzer.

MR. PALZER: This is Bob Palzer with the Sierra
Club. Thank you for calling in. 1"m really impressed with
the way iIn which you give public -- your use of the Internet,
not only to give public notice of permit issuances, and to
have the supporting documents. Because oftentimes that is a
big problem for the public to get involved in the program.

The question that -- I have several questions.
You mentioned that you try to work closely with the source
prior to even putting the draft permit out.

Do you also, where you know there®s significant
interest, do you also try to involve the public at that point
in the process?

MS. HOLLENBACH: In my district we have not had
that occur. We haven™t had any source with a whole lot of
public interest.

In the Detroit area there are a lot more

controversial sources, and 1 honestly don"t know if they have
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gone through that process with any particular group prior to
the public-comment period. 1 can look into that and address
that in the written testimony.

MR. PALZER: 17°d appreciate that.

As a follow-up, when you do have a public hearing
and there are significant comments, how often are those
incorporated -- 1 mean the ones that can be incorporated --
into the permit from the draft to the final?

Does it tend to be a common event or a less common
event?

MS. HOLLENBACH: Public hearings aren"t extremely
common. | think in our state maybe we"ve had 20 public
hearings to date for Title V permits. A lot of times the
comments tend to be more New Source Review permitting comments
that we can"t address through the Title V process. But I do
believe if there are comments that are appropriate, that our
staff try to make the appropriate change in the permit if it
is relevant and appropriate to do so.

MR. PALZER: Okay. Thank you.

MR. HARNETT: Adan Schwartz?

MR. SCHWARTZ: Hi. This is Adan Schwartz with the
Bay Area Air District.

I wonder if you could speak to the interface of
minor new-source review and Title V in Michigan and how you

keep the permits up to date with minor NSR permits that are
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issued after the Title V permit is issued; whether they exist
off permit for a while, or whether the permit is updated
simultaneously, and so forth.

Thanks.

MS. HOLLENBACH: At this point, the permit -- the
New Source Review, minor New Source Review permit is issued.
It is not automatically included in the Title V permit. We
are exploring ways to do that to be more efficient in our
permitting process.

Typically, a minor permit does remain off permit
until it is processed as an administrative amendment, if the
permit has gone through public comment. If not, it will also
jJust remain off permit unless another change is made to the
permit, and then we would incorporate those additions.

MR. SCHWARTZ: Just one follow-up. Is that true
even if there®s a conflict between the minor NSR permit and
the terms of the Title V permit?

MS. HOLLENBACH: If that is the case, we do try to
process those types of permit changes. The companies
typically want to see that happen to avoid having to report
deviations. But if there is a conflict, we do recommend to
the company they report the deviation. We will not take
follow-up action obviously. But our rules allow for a company
to follow the conditions of the New Source Review permit even

it it conflicts with an existing Title V permit if it has not
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yet been ruled in. As long as they are in compliance with
that New Source Review permit.

MR. HARNETT: Bob Morehouse.

MR. MOREHOUSE: Heidi, this is Bob Morehouse,
ExxonMobil. 1 may not have heard you correctly, so the
question, did you indicate that the permit engineers visit the
sites that they®re working on the permits for?

MS. HOLLENBACH: Yes. The field staff who draft
the permits are also the inspectors for those sources. But
typically they"re already quite familiar with the sources, but
they do a site visit and an inspection prior to drafting the
Title V permit.

MR. MOREHOUSE: Thank you.

MR. HARNETT: Michael Ling?

MR. LING: Good morning. This is Michael Ling
with EPA.

You mentioned that you had some experience with
renewals. I"m just wondering if you can characterize the kind
of review that you®"re doing at renewal and the kind of actions
that you"re taking to update the permit, if necessary.

MS. HOLLENBACH: The renewal process is still a
bit onerous, we"re finding, primarily because we have updated
our template document and made some changes. We are taking
pains to make sure the renewals are up to date and that

anything that was deficient in a prior permit is addressed,
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cleaned up. And it is taking quite a bit of time to do that.

MR. HARNETT: Mike Wood.

MR. WOOD: Good morning, Heidi. This is Mike Wood
with Weyerhaeuser. Thank you for taking time to call in this
morning. Your comments are very well-prepared.

I have a question about your templates and whether
those are generic, or if you have a number of templates that
are industry-specific?

MS. HOLLENBACH: No, our template is basically
comprised of the general conditions that would apply to all
sources, and then the formatting for the different
emission-unit conditions for each condition-free emission
unit, that will then get filled in by the permit writers.

And, 1t"s also some appendices, so it"s a generic document,
but it"s formatted in a way that enforces the permit writer to
be consistent in how they draft permits for individual
sources.

MR. WOOD: Are insignificant emission units --
how are those addressed in your permits?

MS. HOLLENBACH: Our rules do not require the
reporting of very insignificant emission units in the
application. Those that are required to be reported are any
with applicable emission limits or standards. And we have
crafted some -- this is where we might -- we have some

templates that are generic. We"ve crafted some templates for
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those types of emission units that have standard conditions,
and those are included in the permit, if applicable, for
certain sources. So the work is done all up front. The
conditions are the same for all those sources for those types
of emission units that are de minimis.

MR. WOOD: In your written testimony, could you
provide an example of one of those insignificant templates?

MS. HOLLENBACH: Okay.

MR. WOOD: Thank you.

MS. HOLLENBACH: Uh-huh.

MR. HARNETT: Steve Hagle.

MR. HAGLE: Good morning, Heidi. This is Steve
Hagle from Texas. | had a question about a statement that you
made, and 1 just wanted to clarify what you were saying. You
said permit conditions are clarified In the Title V
permitting.

Does that mean that you®re going back and looking
at NSR -- underlying NSR permits and trying to clarify some of
those conditions? 1 really didn"t understand what that
comment was in relation to.

MS. HOLLENBACH: Yes. What we attempted to do is
when a New Source Review permit condition is not worded well
or is vague or not specific enough, we have tried to clarify
the language in the Title V permit so the source understands,

we understand, and it"s clear to the public.
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MR. HAGLE: So are you actually changing the
underlying NSR permit, or are you just adding additional
language as part of the Title V permit, or how do you do that?

MS. HOLLENBACH: We are not changing the
underlying New Source Review -- or underlying applicable

requirement. We"re just simply hopefully improving the

verbiage.

MR. HAGLE: Thank you.

MS. HOLLENBACH: Uh-huh.

MR. HARNETT: Verena Owen.

MS. OWEN: Hi. This is Verena Owen with Lake
County Conservation Alliance. 1 have three quick questions.

You do concurrent review. If you receive public
comments, does the review stay concurrent, or can EPA request
to have them be sequential?

MS. HOLLENBACH: Maybe 1 can clarify that. We
currently, although EPA has agreed to review our permits
during the 30-day public-comment period, there still is a
subsequent 45-day EPA review period. Typically they don"t use
that period to provide comments; they provide comments up
front for us.

MS. OWEN: Okay. Thank you.

Do you respond to comments?

MS. HOLLENBACH: Yes.

MS. OWEN: Last, the calendar you mentioned, it
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sounded like some kind of cost-saving device. You said you

mailed it out to a

lot of folks that are interested.

Does this calendar contain public notices for

permits that went out to draft?

MS. HOLLENBACH:

Yes, this calendar, actually, is

a department calendar and includes all public notices for all

of the department®s actions,

permits.

days in bunch instead of --

including all of our Title V

MS. OWEN: So this is a biweekly calendar?

MS. HOLLENBACH:

Yes.

MS. OWEN: So you issue permits basically every 14

MS. HOLLENBACH:

What we do is, we start the

public-comment period, the publication date of a calendar.

That"s the first day.

So it would appear twice in the

calendar during the 30-day public-comment period.

a question.

MS. OWEN: Thank you.

MR. HARNETT: Marcie Keever.

MS. KEEVER: Thanks for calling us, Heidi. 1 had

You mentioned something about some permits were

still not issued because of enforcement actions, and I™m

wondering how your state deals with enforcement or compliance

problems when also having to deal with issuing Title V

permits?

MS. HOLLENBACH:

We have a scheduled compliance in
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the appendix of the permit that we use when a company is not
in compliance with the terms and conditions of permit. That
works in most cases, however we do have -- these remaining
four have major enforcement issues ongoing, enforcement
actions.

And as far as | understand, there iIs not an
agreement yet, necessarily, on the corrective action.
Although, I think there are two that are going out. One"s
going out for public comments in the very near future; and one
they will probably include a scheduled compliance in the
permit without the company having submitted it and to try and
enforce the permit through that way.

MS. KEEVER: Thank you.

MS. HOLLENBACH: Scheduled compliance is the way
we typically deal with a noncompliance issue.

MR. HARNETT: Keri Powell.

MS. POWELL: This is Keri Powell from the New York
Public Interest Research Group.

I was wondering if you could expand a little upon
what factors your agency considers in deciding how much
monitoring is needed to assure compliance and how well that
process is working for you.

MS. HOLLENBACH: We do have, as | mentioned, a
guidance document that lays out typical periodic monitoring

that can be used for different pollutants for different types
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of sources. That has been the foundation of our periodic
monitoring program, how we"ve identified appropriate
monitoring.

Does that answer your question?

MS. POWELL: 17°d appreciate it if you"d describe
the guidance a little bit. Just more detail.

Do you supplement existing monitoring conditions
and regulations with additional monitoring when you think it"s
necessary?

MS. HOLLENBACH: Yes, we do. |If there is not a
monitoring requirement for the applicable requirement, we will
make sure that there is something in the permit that can
demonstrate compliance with that particular condition.

MS. POWELL: And what if there is some amount of
monitoring in the underlying requirement but you don®"t think
it"s sufficient to assure compliance?

MS. HOLLENBACH: Do we gap fill?

MR. HARNETT: Could I ask if you would just
submit that for our record, a copy of your guidance? That
would probably be helpful.

MS. HOLLENBACH: Okay.

MR. HARNETT: Don van der Vaart.

MR. VAN DER VAART: This is Don van der Vaart with
North Carolina, Heidi.

I was just wondering, on MACT requirements, just



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

25

two little questions: One, do you do anything with the Title V
permit between the notification that a source thinks is
subject to the MACT and the substantive compliance date of
that MACT, which is usually about two-and-a-half years?

And then what -- what do you do, either before or
after that substantive compliance date, in terms of placing
those conditions; in other words, do you do it by reference or
do you paraphrase, or what?

MS. HOLLENBACH: If a MACT is in effect, -- and we
have in the past reopened permits to include MACT provisions
in the permits -- if it"s between the notification and the
first substantive compliance date, we would not reopen. But
if we are in the renewal process, we have included the MACT
provision, as best we can, into the Title V permit.

How we do that is, we"re kind of in the middle.

We do not do a high-level citation, nor do we include every
detail of the MACT to try and find an appropriate middle
ground: at least the emission limit, any work-practice
standards, monitoring, record keeping conditions in the
permit.

MR. VAN DER VAART: Now, do you reopen if the
compliance date -- if the actual substantive compliance date
occurs before renewal?

MS. HOLLENBACH: We have done that for a number of

them. 1 can"t speak to all of our permits, but I know that we
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have reopened a number of permits.

MR. HARNETT: Thank you very much for your time,
Heidi. We appreciate it.

MS. HOLLENBACH: Thank you.

MR. HARNETT: Is Bill O"Sullivan on?

MR. O"SULLIVAN: I am here.

MR. HARNETT: Bill, this is Bill Harnett. You
have a mixed crowd here of representatives of public interest
groups, states, and industry, and you“"re free to go ahead.

1*11 give you a warning -- you have 15 minutes for
your presentation, then we"re going to take 15 minutes for
questions. 1711 give you a warning when you have two minutes
left.

MR. O®SULLIVAN: All right. Well, thanks, Bill,
for the opportunity to present this oral testimony. 1 think
the states and locals have a lot to offer. | just wanted to
say that much of what Michigan has said satisfies New Jersey
as well. There is a lot of commonality in how you approach
our operating-permit program.

I have with me here my chief of my operating
program, John Preczewski, and also his second in command, Rich
Langbein, in case | can"t answer questions, which may be the
case.

I want to just focus on renewals right off the

bat. 1 think now is a good time to take operating permits to
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the next step. As Michigan pointed out, there®s an
opportunity to improve our operating permits with the
renewals. What we are planning to do here in New Jersey is
to, with each renewal, provide a comprehensive overview of the
air-pollution control at each facility and do this at least
once every five years.

We see the operating permit not only as a good
enforcement tool, but as a useful air-quality-management
tool. With a good overview of the facility once every five
years, this can be useful to the public, to the air agency,
and to the facility management. And when I"m talking about a
facility™s overview, I"m talking about primarily seven items.

One is to summarize the facility changes over the
last five years. Some of these changes could get buried in
these rather big permits, and so a summary of those changes is
appropriate. This would be for both significant and
insignificant sources. The iInsignificant sources are not
subject to permit revision during the five-year term. They"re
only subject to revision at the five-year renewal. So it"s
important to explain the changes to insignificant sources at
that time.

Two, to show the emission trends for the criteria
pollutants and the significant HAP. We all have emission
statements which show us the emissions for each of the major

facilities. We"re asking our major facilities to show what
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their trends have been in the criteria pollutants over the
last five years and for selective hazardous air pollutants as
well.

Three, listing of the stack-test results, iIf any
have been conducted over the five years.

Four, summarizing exceedances. We"ve gotten
annual compliance certifications and deviation reports, how
about -- some summary of these deviations at the five-year
renewal 1s appropriate.

Five, give the company an opportunity to describe
their efforts to reduce emissions.

Six, summarize any air-quality modeling and risk
assessment that has occurred, and we"re seeing more and more
of this as we are getting into the regulation of hazardous air
pollutants.

And, finally, seven, give the company the
opportunity to describe what it will or what it intends to do
to reduce or minimize air emissions over the next five years.

Let me get into some general feelings about the
Title V program. 1 think it"s largely been successful at
achieving its purpose. It provides a consolidation of the
numerous conditions in our preconstruction permits. In New
Jersey, we had approximately 21,000 separate permits for
individual pieces of equipment at these facilities. Now

they"re in a permit, facility-wide permits, for 350 sources.
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The details are still there. The significant emission units,
there®s still the details in the permits, but it"s organized
and it"s done in a facility-wide way. In addition, we"ve got
the grandfather sources iIn these permits, and we have general
descriptions and inventory of the insignificant sources.

So for the first time we have a better picture, a
good picture, of what the true situation is at these major
facilities, and the facility -- many of the facilities, for
the first time, they also have this picture. We think that
compliance-assurance monitoring has been very helpful. We
think we"re still scratching the surface on testing and on
monitoring. But the monitoring that is included in the permit
has been helpful at assuring compliance.

We see emission reductions as a result of these
permits; and that the sources have become aware of the
requirements; and because of the monitoring and record keeping
or reporting that"s required. Some sources have used the
opportunity to put enforceable permit conditions in their
minor-facility permits to avoid becoming major facilities, and
that"s helpful for air pollution as well.

A comment on something that"s been discussed by
this work group is whether or not there should be uniform
Title V permits, forms, and policies. We don"t believe this
would be constructive at this point. Each state has developed

its own forms and procedures, and each state needs to evolve
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from where i1t is now to better, more effective permits. So we
don"t believe that there should be uniform operating permits
across the U.S.A. at this point. We do think it would be
appropriate for EPA to provide what 1 call a model for
(inaudible) sets or federal rules. For example, MACT and
NSPS, that would be very helpful. And we think it"s
appropriate for states to be sharing exemplary permit
conditions for common-source categories as we evolve with our
renewable permits to better permits.

B, touch on B, it"s also an important point: We
found that $25 a ton was inadequate. We are up to $90 a ton.
And this is obvious for the need for increased fees as
emissions decrease because we have more air-pollution
controls, permits become more complicated, the work increases.
The work doesn"t decrease as emissions decrease. We"ve gone
from low-sulfur coal, to low NOx burners, SDRs, rubbers,
carbon injection, numerous DEMs, inlet/outlet testing; many
more requirements than we had 10, 20 years ago. And this all
takes more work by the facilities and by the state inspectors
and permit renewers.

111 comment on our $90 a ton. If you look at the
cost, the avoided cost of air-pollution control on the market,
it"s $700 a ton for SO02, $400 a ton for NOX. So even a
$90-a-ton emission fee is a relatively low number compared to

the avoided cost of control.
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How am 1 doing with time, Bill?

MR. HARNETT: You have about seven minutes left.

MR. O"SULLIVAN: All right.

MR. HARNETT: You don"t have to feel obligated to
use it all.

MR. O"SULLIVAN: You know me, Bill. 1711 use it
all and then some if I can.

A point on certifications. And we"ve had some
issues here with the length of those. We believe that these
should be streamlined, focused on deviations, violations, and
provide sufficient detail on the deviations. We don"t think
it"s useful for compliance certifications to repeat applicable
requirements for source operations where there is no problem.
We find that the front line certifications get too detailed
for our sources where there are no problems; that the real
problems get buried in the certification.

Our average operating permit has 60 significant
sources, and it has over 1,000 applicable requirements. So to
repeat every one of those, you know, monitoring, record
keeping, and reporting requirements in a compliance
certification iIs just not appropriate.

A little comment on the de minimis, and how the
states define what is the significant source to include detail
of the operating permit. And there is no federal -- there is

no federal definition of significant/insignificant. We all do
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it based on our preconstruction-permit programs. And there --
and 1 believe that there should be some further EPA guidance
on what are appropriate de minimis levels for
significant/insignificant sources.

Incorporation by reference, we, like Michigan, do
it both ways. Sometimes -- we"ve sometimes taken the MACT
standard and developed very detailed permit conditions put in
the permit. More recently, we"ve taken to incorporate some of
the very lengthy MACT standards by reference. We think that
it"s important to include options; where there are options in
the MACT standards in the operating permit that clearly
indicate to the people overseeing the permit what options are
selected by the facility to comply with MACT.

I heard a question on site visits. We think that
site visits are very useful by our permit evaluators, and that
the permits are best when there"s a teamwork by the facility
environmental manager and his staff, by the permit evaluator,
and also by the field inspector. That makes a good team and
better permits come out of the process when all are actively
engaged.

We think there®s need for further training. We
think it would be helpful to have source categories specific
seminars and the sharing of model permits at those kind of
seminars; perhaps websites for the state and locals would be

useful as well.
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Potential to emit, we take the opportunity to
define "potential to emit™ In our operating permits and think
that"s a good practice.

Startup, shutdown, malfunctions, we think the
reporting of these is very important, and we include our
affirmative defense reporting as a requirement in our
operating permit. This involves reporting any exceedances
during these situations and what actions are taken to address
those exceedances and prevent or minimize them in the future.

Public outreach. We don"t get much public
interest in our permits. When there"s a request for a public
hearing, we generally honor that request. | don"t think we"ve
ever turned down a request for a public hearing, but we don"t
get many of them. When we get a request to accept public
commentary, we do that as well. We don"t believe that there
should be the need to reissue a public notice if there"s a
request to extend the comment period.

On environmental justice, on -- some communities
have indicated an interest in facilities in their
neighborhoods, and we"re trying to involve those communities
up front with any new -- any significant new or modified
facilities iIn the area, that includes any major facilities
with operating permits.

MR. HARNETT: You have two minutes left.

MR. O"SULLIVAN: All right. 1I"m just about done.
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Let"s see what we have here. For appeals. We"ve
gotten a number of appeals more recently. Some of these
appeals are the substance of permit and we simply made a
mistake, or we haven®t been clear, and we worked those out
with the company. Sometimes the appeals are all over the
place. We"ve even gotten appeals on the boilerplate. So
we"ve got some, what we consider, symbolic appeals from
certain industry groups which are, in my opinion,
problematic.

On minor mod, significant mod, 1 think 1711 wrap
up with that. On minor mods we have a consolidated permit
program here, meaning both our preconstruction and operating
permits are reviewed and approved concurrently. We do give
the facility the opportunity to get their preconstruction
approval first as part of the process. So when we go out with
the draft operating permit, we give an approval for the
preconstruction permit.

For minor mod, the facility can proceed at risk
with both construction and operation. For significant mod, a
facility can proceed at risk with only construction provided
it"s not major NSR. We think these are good procedures. We"d
like to see some further streamlining here. We think that for
significant mods that aren"t major NSR, that the facility
should be able to also operate when we"ve issued our proposed

permit to EPA and not have to wait for EPA to go through the
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45-day veto period.

I think that finishes up the main points 1 wanted
to make, Bill. We are going to follow up with written
comments, which 1 have put together considerably more than 1
had the opportunity to do in 15 minutes today.

MR. HARNETT: Thank you, Bill.

Bob Morehouse.

MR. MOREHOUSE: Bill, this is Bob Morehouse,
ExxonMobil .

Could you explain briefly to the Task Force about
the New Jersey write-your-own-permit program that you have?

We have a facility in New Jersey that has utilized
that and found that to be effective in working with the state
to get a better-quality permit.

1"d be interested in yours with a broader
perspective on that.

MR. O®SULLIVAN: There"s no magic in
write-your-own-permit. The original intent of the Title V
program was that the major facilities would submit draft
permits to the state, and we"d approve them. And early on in
the program we found that that wasn"t possible, and we pretty
much started writing the permits for all the facilities.

More recently, in the last year or so, with the
very big facilities, the facilities with batch processes,

we"ve taken on a more teamwork kind of review where we"ve
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involved the facility environmental management in writing the
permits and encouraged them to do more of the up-front work on
the permit conditions with our oversight, with our visiting
the facility, with the involvement of our enforcement
inspectors; that teamwork I was talking about earlier. And we
found that this takes more time, but it produces better
permits: better permits for the facility, better permits for
us, and better permits for the public.

MR. HARNETT: Bernie Paul.

MR. PAUL: Hello, Bill. This is Bernie Paul with
Eli Lilly.

MR. O®SULLIVAN: Hi, Bernie.

MR. PAUL: How are you doing? 1 have a question
about deviation reports, compliance reports, compliance
certifications.

What has been your experience, if you"ve reviewed
these reports, or if any of the staff that"s with you have
reviewed these reports, what is your experience with the type
of information that"s being reported as compliance issues,
deviations?

Is it mostly record keeping, reporting, or are you
seeing a lot of emission-limit violations being reported in
these reports?

I*"m just kind of curious, trying to get a flavor

from different states of what they"re seeing in these reports.
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MR. O®"SULLIVAN: Let me say, as far as -- the
Enforcement Program is the only air program that doesn"t
report to me. So I only can speak from what I know, and that
is, from hearing Ed Kromansky (phonetic), who does head up the
Enforcement Program, that the reports have been all over the
place; that we see all kinds of deviations reported.

IT you look at the operating permit, we don"t
require much stack testing; we don"t require much continuous
emissions monitoring. We do require a lot of process
reporting. So obviously you see more deviations on the things
that you specified as applicable requirements and less on
emissions because you don*t ask for much in the way of
emissions testing and monitoring.

MR. HARNETT: Bob Palzer.

MR. PALZER: All right, Bill. Thanks for calling
in. 1"m representing the Sierra Club.

Did I hear you correctly when you said that once
compliance certification has been made, there was no need to
do it again?

MR. O®"SULLIVAN: No. No. Compliance
certification have to be done periodically. What I said was
that compliance certifications should focus on deviations and
should not repeat a lot of information on equipment for which
there is compliance.

MR. PALZER: 1"m glad I misheard you. 1 feel much
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more comfortable. Thank you.

MR. HARNETT: Adan Schwartz.

MR. SCHWARTZ: Adan Schwartz with the Bay Area Air
District.

My question, again, has to do with minor New
Source Review. 1 know you said you have a consolidated
program, Bill, so the Title V Action and the New Source Review
action happen simultaneously.

So my question is, can you generalize about what
portion of minor resource-review actions are handled as Title
V minor modifications; most of them, all of them, or what can

you say about that?

MR. O®"SULLIVAN: 1 don"t have that data at my
fingertips.

John? Rich?

They don"t either.

I think a majority of the modifications are minor
mods. 1 sign off on the public notice for the significant

mods, and so we"re talking thousands a year in the minor-mod
case and perhaps a hundred a year in the significant case.
We"ll get some better statistics there.

MR. HARNETT: Thank you.

Keri Powell.

MS. POWELL: This is Keri Powell from the New York

Public Interest Research Group.
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In your testimony you mentioned that the
compliance-assurance monitoring in permits is helpful, but 1
believe you said that you feel like the agency is still just
scratching the surface.

I was wondering if you would explain that a little
further. Does that mean that you think additional monitoring
will be needed in renewal permits, and, if so, can you
describe the process for deciding how much monitoring is
needed to assure compliance?

MR. O®"SULLIVAN: Let me start with your last point
first.

Like Michigan, we do have some -- we call it
presumptive norms for monitoring, reporting, for some
comment-source categories. And, generally, we only require
the stack testing for the very larger sources, the big
boilers, for example; and continuous monitors, the same way.
Most of the sources at the facility average 60 sources per
facility. It"s production records; is the source keeping
within the production of -- that it committed to as maximum
production in the permit. And there might be some other
conditions on raw materials and that sort of thing.

So there is not much testing and monitoring. |
think as we go forward in the future, we"ll find the need for
more testing and monitoring, and hopefully this will become

more cost effective as the cost of continuous monitors go down
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over time.

MR. HARNETT: Callie Videtich.

MS. VIDETICH: Hi, Bill, this is Callie Videtich
from Region 8 in Denver.

MR. O®"SULLIVAN: 1 can"t hear you.

MS. VIDETICH: My name is Callie Videtich from
Region 8 in Denver.

Can you hear me now?

MR. O®SULLIVAN: 1 still can"t hear you.

MS. VIDETICH: Can you hear me now?

MR. O"SULLIVAN: Yes. Thank you.

MS. VIDETICH: Can you hear me now. This is
Callie Videtich, Region 8 in Denver.

The last statement you made in your testimony
before we started asking questions, you said, "We think that
sources should be able to begin construction once we"ve issued
a proposed permit to EPA_"

Does that mean you think that that®"s what should
happen, or is that the practice?

MR. O"SULLIVAN: No, that"s what I think should
happen.

MS. VIDETICH: Okay.

MR. O®"SULLIVAN: I don"t think -- right now,
significant mod operation, operation, cannot occur until EPA

goes through its 45-day period or otherwise concurs on a
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permit. And 1 think we"ve gone through the draft permit;
we"ve gone to public comment. EPA, In my region, reviews the
draft. They do it concurrent with the public.

And the only function of the proposed permit is
for EPA to ensure that we"ve adequately incorporated any
comments they might make. And so, generally, we pay attention
to Region 2 and incorporate their comments in the permit. So
I don"t think there"s much risk of the source operating upon
issuance of the proposed permit. That"s the permit that goes
to EPA for the 45-day review.

MS. VIDETICH: Certainly, though, under your
scenario, If someone else had commented during the
public-comment period, and the source begins to construct
during EPA"s proposed permitting period, the people who
commented under their own public-comment period could do a
petition, and that may grind things to a halt if EPA is
petitioned over the permit.

MR. O"SULLIVAN: It would be at risk. And, once
again, we get very little comment on permits, and those we do,
we try to incorporate as best we can, and that includes EPA
comments. So when we go to the closed permit, we"re pretty
comfortable that the permit will stand up. The most appeals
we get on our permits are from the sources themselves, not
from the citizens and not from EPA. Sometimes sources appeal

permit conditions that they provided to us.



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

42

MR. HARNETT: Rob Sliwinski.

MR. SLIWINSKI: Hi, Bill.

MR. O"SULLIVAN: Hi, Rob.

MR. SLIWINSKI: You mentioned startup, shutdown,
and malfunctions, and that reporting is important and needs to
be required, if 1 got that correctly.

Are you currently requiring that reporting in your
emissions reporting, and, if so, how do you assure it occurs?

MR. O®SULLIVAN: 1 believe we"re requiring that
reporting in two ways. One is as part of our affirmative
defense requirements, that any deviation has to be reported
within two days, and significant deviations within 15 minutes;
along with what actions are being taken to address the
deviation and prevent it in the future. And this has been a
very good program at getting these kind of exceedances, which
are becoming more and more the emissions in this country,
addressed.

We also require that the emissions from these
deviations be iIncorporated into the annual emissions
statement. Now, how successful we are in getting that
information, 1"m not sure. |1 can follow up with my
emission-statement people on it. But that is a listed
requirement in the emission report.

MR. HARNETT: Shannon Broome.

MS. BROOME: Hi, Bill. This is Shannon Broome.
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I"m just following up on Callie"s question and your statement
about the preconstruction and the operating.

I was understanding you to say that you"ve
actually issued the preconstruction approval at the point that
the proposed operating permit is going to EPA, right?

MR. O®"SULLIVAN: Actually, no. As you probably
know, the operating permit is a two-phase process. It starts
with a draft permit that goes out to the public. And then
after the public comment, we then issue a proposed permit for
EPA"s 45-day review.

When we do our simultaneous construction approval
and operating approval, we do that at the draft stage. We
issue both a preconstruction approval and an operating permit
modification at the draft stage. Now, depending upon what
kind of modification it is governs what the source can do. If
it"s a minor mod, the source can both construct and operate at
that point. |If it"s a significant mod, it can only construct
at that stage, and that"s only if it"s not a PSD or a major
NSR permit.

MS. BROOME: I get it now. 1 just was not
following your steps. So I"ve got it. Thank you.

MR. HARNETT: Marcie Keever.

MS. KEEVER: Thanks. This is Marcie Keever with
Our Children®s Earth.

I think I asked the same question of Michigan.
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I1"m wondering how you deal with enforcement or compliance
problems when issuing either new Title V permits or renewals
to facilities in New Jersey?

MR. O®SULLIVAN: Much the same as Michigan, where
we already have a -- what we call a consent decree, which
would have a compliance schedule in i1t. We would incorporate
that into the operating permit as an operating permit
compliance schedule and a reverted consent decree.

The problem comes when a source operation -- we
found this with our initial operating permits -- finds a
noncompliance late in the process, where they haven"t
corrected the problem during the time that we"re evaluating
the operating permit. And we don"t have an enforcement action
to Incorporate into the permit by reference.

In those cases, we try to work out with our
enforcement program a compliance schedule. And if they are
able to negotiate a compliance schedule with the facility, we
would incorporate that prior to the final permit. IFf timing
isn"t right, then, like Michigan, we are trying to put in a
more generic compliance schedule, that"s basically a schedule
to get a more detailed schedule while the enforcement of
program works out all the details, which as you know sometimes
these take considerable time to do.

MR. HARNETT: Bob Hodanbosi.

MR. HODANBOSI: Hello, Bill. This is Bob
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Hodanbosi. I just wanted to follow up quickly on the
$90 a ton fee.

Is that allowable or actual?

MR. O"SULLIVAN: 1It"s actual, of course. And I°d
like to point out that we don"t have the 5,000-ton-per-year
tax. So whatever you mix, you pay. Most facilities it"s —-
the big facilities pay a lot. Most of our major facilities
aren"t paying a lot of money.

MR. HODANBOSI: Okay. And how is that fee set?
Do you have to go through rule making? 1Is that set by the
legislature? How is the fee set.

MR. O®SULLIVAN: Our fee is set by legislation.
We went back to the legislature a year-and-a-half ago to raise
the fees.

MR. HARNETT: And, Bill, we"re through with the
questions here.

Could you identify the people with you that you
referred to before and spell their names for our reporter?

MR. O®SULLIVAN: Let me ask them to say their
names and spell their names.

MR. HARNETT: Okay. That"s fine, too.

MR. PRECZEWSKI: John Preczewski, that"s P-, as in
Peter, r-e-c-z-e-w-s-k-1i.

MR. LANGBEIN: And I"m Richard Langbein,

L-a-n-g-b-e-i-n.
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MS. KADERLY: Bill, this is Shelley Kaderly on the
line. | had a question about fee construction.

Can 1 ask a gquestion?

MR. HARNETT: Go right ahead.

MS. KADERLY: I understood that you charged
different fees for your HAPs.

Is that still the case?

MR. O"SULLIVAN: The HAP fee program is separate
and apart from the Title V permit program. And that is not
actually iIn the air program. That"s in our right-to-know
program.

MS. KADERLY: Okay. Thank you.

MR. HARNETT: Thank you, very much, Bill.

Our next speaker will be Lisa Rector.

Lisa, are you on?

MS. RECTOR: Yes, 1 am.

MR. HARNETT: And Lisa is with the Northeast
States for Coordinated Air Use Management, or NESCAUM.

Lisa, you can go ahead. This is Bill Harnett.
You have a group in front of you who are listening to you:
permitting authorities, industry and public-interest groups,
as well as EPA.

You have 15 minutes for your presentation. 1711
warn you at a two-minute mark to wrap up, and then we will

have 15 minutes of questions.
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Go right ahead.

MS. RECTOR: Great. Thanks. Hello. For those of
you who don"t know, NESCAUM --

MR. HARNETT: Can you speak up just a bit? Or if
you"re on a speaker phone, maybe go to pick it up.

MS. RECTOR: Sorry about that.

MR. HARNETT: That"s better. Thanks.

MS. RECTOR: You"re welcome.

First of all, thank you for giving me the
opportunity to submit my testimony. For those of you that
aren"t familiar with NESCAUM, we are a 38-year-old association
of the air quality management of agencies of New York, New
Jersey, Connecticut, Maine, Massachusetts, New Hampshire,
Rhode Island, and Vermont.

I just want to focus my comments more on the
compliance and enforcement side of Title V. The majority of
our states are going to be either testifying in person, over
the phone, or submitting written comments. So I don"t want to
repeat what they"re going to be saying to you. 1 am the staff
lead for the enforcement compliance committee, so 1 work hand
in hand with many of the -- or most of these states.

First off, 1°d like to say that the Title V
program has added a vital component to the state program. At
the outset, implementation of the program required a

significant amount of resources in order to develop the
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guidance materials, the forms, the tracking systems, the
reporting mechanisms, as well as the need to train permit and
enforcement staff to implement the program. The feeling,
however, is that the investment really has paid off in a
variety of benefits. First and foremost is the role the
permit itself plays iIn providing a comprehensive document that
outlines all the requirements for which a facility must adhere
prior --

MR. HARNETT: Lisa, we"re still having trouble
hearing you. |IFf you could speak up a bit.

And do you have written comments that you might be
able to e-mail us as well?

MS. RECTOR: Yes.

MR. HARNETT: Let me give you an e-mail address
that will help our court reporter later. It"s cox, c-0-X,
dot, shannon, s-h-a-n-n-o-n, at e-c-r-w-e-b, as in "boy" --

MS. RECTOR: Yep.

MR. HARNETT: -- dot, com. And if you could again
try to speak up a little bit. We"re just having some
difficulty here in the room. Thank you.

MS. RECTOR: Okay. 1 apologize.

The major benefit that our enforcement staff has
seen is the coordination between the permit writers and the
enforcement staff. The initial writing of the permits

themselves uncovered a variety of violations, from minor
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paperwork instructions to identification of new emission
sources.

In addition, this coordination has also led to a
greater understanding of what permit writers need to include
in permits so that enforcement staff can make adequate
compliance determinations, as well as the permit writers
gaining a greater understanding -- or, excuse me, the
enforcement staff gaining a knowledge of all the applicable
requirements, what a state should be looking for in their
inspection.

The inspection staff has also noted the benefits
to the public in this. The dialogue that is taking place has
increased substantially since the implementation of the Title
V program. They have a better understanding of what the
states can and cannot do. The enforcement and compliance
staff are also reporting much more data to EPA on their
compliance and enforcement activities. This information is
becoming more and more available to the public via online
permits, the supporting documents, and EPA*"s online compliance
system ECHO.

The Title V program also has increased the ability
of the enforcement program to identify the terminology of the
regulatory requirements. In many cases, the Title V permit
has been used as a checklist by our compliance staff when they

conduct inspections. Using this permit has led to a much more



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

50

thorough and complete inspection process.

Another important benefit about the Title V
program has been the reports the states receive, especially
the quarterly and semiannual compliance reports. This
information has proven to be a powerful tool to ascertain the
compliance, and many of our enforcement programs have
commented that the associated report -- reporting associated
with Title V has made them much more efficient in the work
they do.

However, our states feel that the annual Title V
compliance certifications have not yet proved themselves to be
a very useful compliance tool. We recognize their value to
the public in that they provide an annual snapshot of a
facility"s compliance, and they also put the onus on the
facility that at least once a year they review all of the
applicable requirements; however, it has been our experience
that they haven®t yielded any new compliance issues or
compliance actions.

More important to our staff has been the quarterly
reports and semiannual reports that include information on
CEMs, fuel usage, and deviations. However, there®s still
places where the Title V program could be improved. For
instance, in the area of periodic efficiency monitoring, the
lack of EPA guidance has made the states unsure of what they

can and cannot require of the Title V permit. This situation
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has hampered the ability to require more monitoring permits,
especially when the underlying EPA regulations have inadequate
monitoring requirements.

This void left by the lack of guidance is a
significant burden on the enforcement staff. EPA"s Office of
Enforcement & Compliance Assurance, OECA, has implemented a
new compliance-monitoring strategy. The CMS requires that the
enforcement staff must require stack tests when there is no
other means to determine compliance. This places the
compliance staff in a position of making a regulatory
determination as to what adequate monitoring to assure
compliance is.

It has and continues to be the position of NESCAUM
that these determinations should be made by Title V permitting
staff and clearly outlined in the permit. In fact, in many
cases, our member states can"t require additional stack
testing If It"s not a permit term, and they can only require
additional stack testing if they have proof or reason to
believe that a violation has occurred. Allowing permit
writers to include additional monitoring so enforcement staff
can competently assure compliance would significantly
strengthen the Title V program.

Another area of concern for our member states
relates to significant burdens that reporting Title V

compliance with enforcement data places on the states. They
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recognize the importance of this data, and, however, with the
advent of this new program, EPA has requested more and more
information to be required reported to DC on their activities,
not only on Title V sources, but also on certain synthetic
minor sources. And this has resulted in a significant
increase in resources devoted to reporting data to EPA, in
some cases as much as a 65 percent increase in resources
devoted in this activity.

And the problem that lies within this is that EPA
has not made a similar investment into their data system. And
while other programs in the water and waste areas have
developed modern, sophisticated reporting system, the air
program still relies on a very archaic, outdated system known
as AFS, which is subject to frequent and prolonged
breakdowns. In addition, the data reporting structure itself
is significantly cumbersome and does not yield transparent
data to the public, nor does it provide the public with the
data they most greatly need.

And EPA continues to increase the burden of
reporting data on the states. And by eliminating the amount
of -- by iIncreasing the reporting burden on the states, EPA
really limits the amount of time states can spend on assuring
compliance with the facilities. There"s only a limited amount
of resources that states have to implement the Title V

program. Reporting air-compliance data would be far less
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resource intensive and more likely to be of use to the public
if EPA were to develop and employ a more modern relational
data base.

Another issue related to Title V in the new
compliance-monitoring strategy relates to the group of
facilities known as the SM-80s. These are synthetic minor
sources to -- permitted at threshold 80 percent of Title V.
EPA, or 1 should say OECA, is now requiring that states
inspect these facilities at least once every fTive years.
However, EPA has not directed any funding to inspecting the
SM-80s, and Title V fees cannot be used to support those
activities.

We understand that they are an important source of
monitoring. These are sources that are most likely to be
tripping up at 80 percent or at Title V thresholds. However,
with limited resources, being able to devote adequate time and
energy to this area would require, In our opinion, one of two
things: either the ability to use Title V fees to fund these
EPA-directed activities, or develop a funding system to
collect fees for the SM-80s.

What 1"d like to say in summary is that we
strongly support the Title V program and recommend the value
of protecting air quality and public health. We feel that
greater investment by EPA into the program would make the

program stronger.
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I want to thank you very much for this opportunity
to submit testimony.

MR. HARNETT: Thank you.

Michael Ling.

MR. LING: Hi. This is Michael Ling with EPA.

I just wanted to clarify your comments on the
reporting of compliance information. It"s my understanding
that your comments were directed towards EPA policies
regarding what compliance data you need to report to the EPA
databases, and you weren"t commenting about the kinds of
information that you were getting from -- your member states
were getting from facilities in their compliance and deviation
reports.

MS. RECTOR: Correct. It"s the data that states
are being required to submit to EPA and how they®"re required
to submit it. Our states are required to submit compliance
and enforcement information at complete levels by subparts,
which makes it very confusing. You can have a single
pollutant in violation of multiple subparts.

MR. LING: Thanks.

MR. HARNETT: Rob Sliwinski.

MR. SLIWINSKI: Hi, Lisa.

MS. RECTOR: Hi, Rob.

MR. SLIWINSKI: Would you go into a little bit of

detail for everyone here about the EPA"s recent ICR about
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increasing the data that"s going to be required for
enforcement that the state®s going to have to comply to EPA --
provide the EPA?

MS. RECTOR: Sure. Probably the area of greatest

concern to our states is what is known as PCEs, or partial

compliance evaluations. These -- it is our understanding that
these are the on-site activities. 1 probably actually need to
step back.

In the CMS strategy, EPA got away from reporting
in sections and now has reporting in what is known as
full-compliance evaluations, or FCEs. And these are when you
take a variety of tools that you have, including inspections,
reports, and whatnot, and make a determination about a
facility"s compliance. This Is now what states report to EPA,
this is the bean that is counted; this is how they measure the
effectiveness of the state program.

EPA i1s now requesting, or requiring, as a
mandatory state or reporting element, that states report
partial compliance evaluations. These are when states are on
site doing a stack test, completing an inspection. These are
numerous requirements, and it will significantly add to the
burden that states have to have. It is a huge resource drain,
especially when you take a look at the single-stack test
element.

A stack test will mean each time you have to enter
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an item, 1t will have to be for each pollutant at each
emission point. In some cases, for something like a
municipal-waste combustor, that would require them to enter
the task 30 times. A single test that tests for one -- for 30
different pollutants, for 30 different times, it takes several
hours. So it"s a very onerous requirement that is not coming
with any additional resources from EPA.

MR. HARNETT: Bob Palzer.

MR. PALZER: Hi, Lisa. Thanks for calling in.
Well, yesterday the president released his budget and EPA --
the budget enacted as proposed, EPA will take a significant
cut.

Could you prioritize the things that you would
like to see? You have mentioned a number of things that you
feel EPA should be doing.

Could you prioritize for me things that would help
the Title V program?

MS. RECTOR: Are you speaking in general on the
Title V program, or merely from an enforcement and compliance
perspective?

MR. PALZER: No, the issues -- you were referring
to a number of things, lack of guidance and so forth.

MS. RECTOR: Well, I think, you know, Ffirst and
foremost, guidance to assure compliance and adequate

monitoring is what 1 think would be very helpful.
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I think the second thing from a state"s
perspective Is to make an investment in a data system that
would allow states to more effectively and efficiently
transfer their information up to EPA. It is not a significant
amount of money. I believe it"s about $5 million that EPA
feels it needs to implement this new system, and the resources
aren™t there for that to happen. This would allow states to
decrease the resource burden associated with reporting that
data and would also, 1 think, provide better data to the
public and EPA.

So I think those would be the top two priorities,
are the -- would be the data reporting and the guidance on
monitoring.

MR. PALZER: And with that, with those changes,
would the process become more transparent? That was what one
of your comments, that a lot of the things aren"t very
transparent to the public.

MS. RECTOR: Yeah, 1 think a more modern data
system, | think iIf you had clearer monitoring requirements,
you would get more testing data. If you had the data system
that would allow for electronic submittal by companies -- for
instance, their annual Title V certifications -- you could
have those available on the web without a significant amount
of resources from the states or EPA. You could have permits,

much more information available to the public, much more
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visibility.

MR. PALZER: Thank you.

MR. HARNETT: Kelly Haragan.

MS. HARAGAN: Hi. This is Kelly Haragan with the
Environmental Integrity Project.

And 1 understood you to say that you think it"s
important for states to be able to determine what monitoring
is needed to assure compliance, and then you said something
about states being limited in their ability to require stack
tests?

MS. RECTOR: Yes.

MS. HARAGAN: And 1 wasn"t sure. Could you
explain a little more about that?

MS. RECTOR: Sure. In many of our states -- |
can"t state all of them, but in the majority of our states,
unless a stack test is required as a permit condition, the
states can only require a stack test to be performed if they
have reason to believe a violation is occurring. So unless
the states have some way of -- some type of evidence behind
them to go to their required enforcement order, they can"t get
any stack test to assure compliance.

MS. HARAGAN: And that"s a statutory requirement?

MS. RECTOR: That"s a statutory requirement.

MS. HARAGAN: And so they would need -- they would

need to have some other monitoring on the source to know they



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

59

think there"s a violation in order to require a stack test?

MS. RECTOR: They would need to have some type of
either -- they"d have to have some sort of evidence or belief
or something to go to their attorneys to put an order in
effect to require the stack test.

The other piece is that, even if they can require
them to do a stack test, it usually takes action by their
attorneys, and their attorneys only have so much time. So
it"s a question of prioritizing. If you"ve got an
investigation ongoing with an actual violation versus trying
to get an order out to perform a stack test, it"s likely that
the investigation where there"s a known violation isn"t going
to take priority.

MS. HARAGAN: So the -- if those states were
drafting a Title V permit, and let"s say everyone assumes that
the statute requires them to put in monitoring adequate to
assure compliance, that those states can"t choose to require a
stack test for that monitoring? They would have to use some
other --

MS. RECTOR: If it"s in the permit as a condition,
they can require it. The problem is, if it"s not in the
permit as a condition, and the enforcement and compliance
staff doesn"t have that information to determine compliance,
they can"t force them to do a stack test unless they have

reason to believe that a violation is occurring.
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MR. HARNETT: Shannon Broome.

MS. BROOME: Hi, Lisa. Thanks for joining us
today.-

Just a quick follow-up on Kelly®s question. If
you could submit those statutes or regs to us, that you think
prohibit requesting a stack test, that would be great, but
that wasn®"t my question.

MS. RECTOR: Okay.

MS. BROOME: That wasn"t my question. 1 just
really would love to see that.

You talked about resource constraints, which I
know are real, and then, also, you talked about the desire to
supplement on a case-by-case basis New Source
performance-standard monitoring.

And I"m just wondering -- or to have EPA give you
guidance as to how to do that on a case-by-case basis. And 1
wonder how you weigh that against some suggestions
yesterday -- | forget which state it was; suggested that
really that"s something that should be done by rule making,
and that would be the most efficient way to do it, and to
prevent disparate treatment sources in the northeast versus
the midwest, and, you know, that"s kind of the debate.

And 1 wondered how you viewed that has meshing

with your resource comment.

60



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

61

MS. RECTOR: Well, I think, you know, ideally,
updating the underlying requirements. If NSPS needs to be
updated, it should be. But we know how long these things take
to happen. And I believe it would be more resource intensive
to update the NSPSs.

At this point, I think what our states have talked
about is trying to perhaps develop some type of standardized
or —— much like New Jersey has, where if it is X type of unit,
you should be having certain types of monitoring available so
that you have guidance on your major sources that are not
going to be required to have stack tests. If there should be
standardization across the board, I think that would greatly
improve the situation.

MR. HARNETT: Shelley Kaderly, do you have any
questions?

MS. KADERLY: No, 1 don"t. Thank you.

MR. HARNETT: Thank you very much for your time,
Lisa, and we"re FTinished for now.

We"re going to take a break now, and we"1l
reconvene at 10:30 local time here in San Francisco for the
next speaker.

(Recess taken at 9:57 to 10:30 a.m.)

MR. HARNETT: This is Bill Harnett from EPA, and
we"re reconvening at this moment.

Jeff, we have in the room a group of



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

62

representatives of permitting authorities, industry and public
interest groups, as well as EPA.

You will have 15 minutes to make your
presentation. [1°11 give you a warning when you have two
minutes left. And then we have 15 minutes set aside for
questions, and go right ahead and begin.

MR. KITCHENS: Thank you.

MR. HARNETT: And please speak clearly. We have a
court reporter trying to take this down, and if you can
imagine, the terms are new to her, and so the clearer and
slower you can speak, the better.

MR. KITCHENS: Okay. Hello. My name is Jeffrey
Kitchens, and 1 am representing the Alabama Department of
Environmental Management. 1 would like to thank you for the
opportunity to provide our department with testimony on the
Title V operating permit program.

Currently, the Department of Air Division, which
is comprised of approximately 90 engineers and scientists, is
responsible for permitting and inspecting 320 Title V major
sources and over 260 facilities that hold synthetic minor
operating permits, or what some agencies call FESOPS.

As with any program, the department®s knowledge
and understanding of all the requirements of the Title V
program have developed and evolved, with the exception of this

program, and continue to do so to this date everyday. This
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statement also holds true with respect to the regulating
community. The department feels that the Title V program has
both positive and negative aspects. |1"m sure that some of the
comments that I will share have been voiced by others. To
begin with, I would like to share some of the positive aspects
or benefits of the Title V program that we have noticed.

First, we feel that one major benefit of this
program is the fact that you now have one document for each
facility, which contains or references all the regulatory
requirements for the facility. For Title V, our department
issued air permits for each emission source or group of
emission sources if we were able to aggregate them at a given
plan. Many of the requirements contained in the air permit
were what we call standard provisions and were duplicated in
each permit.

In the Title V major source and operating permit,
the general provisions are only stated once, eliminating
previous duplication. In the previous air permit, there was
no statement as to the regulatory basis for each of the
provisions or requirements. Since the Title V permits have
the regulatory basis for each of the provisions or
requirements, the regulatory reference is easy to define for
both the community and the public. It is also easy to
determine if that regulation is being applied correctly.

As a result of the Title V permit program, we have
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discovered plants where certain regulations have been
incorrectly applied, and we have also discovered requirements
that are applicable to some sources that have not been applied
in the past.

Second, we believe that the Title V program has
led to a reduction in emissions. Under the Title V program,
facilities are required to develop and implement a
comprehensive monitoring approach for each significant unit as
planned. The Title V program also requires facilities to pay
emission fees each year to support the Title V program where
the plant is located. We have noted in Alabama that for
plants to be able to avoid these two items, as well as to be
able to avoid what they"ve determined to be other burdensome
requirements of the Title V program, some companies have opted
to reduce or restrict the emissions from their plants to
levels below that which would require them to obtain a major
source operating permit.

Some of these reductions may only be on paper. We
feel that actual emissions have also been reduced so the
companies can avoid the Title V program. Some instances of
these actual reductions include changing to lower VOC or
half-content coding, installing control devices where they
would not otherwise be required, and changing to lower
sulfur-content fuels. Reductions in actual emissions may also

be attributed to companies”™ desire to pay less in Title V
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commission fees, which in Alabama are directly linked to
actual emissions.

As 1 stated previously, a benefit of the Title V
program is that it has brought about more monitoring by plant
personnel which is adequate to provide the department with a
reasonable assurance that compliance with the applicable
emissions limitations are what"s practical. Both periodic
monitoring and the compliance-assuring monitoring have caused
plant personnel to pay closer attention to the operation and
maintenance of both the processes and the control devices
associated with these processes.

Not only has the program required more monitoring,
the Title V permit has also set out time frames by which the
plants must initiate corrective action when deviation for
permit requirements occur. We feel that these factors have
likely also led to a reduction of emissions from the plants
that hold major-source operating permits. The requirements to
submit an annual compliance certification has also led to
increasing accountability for environmental issues at the
plant-management level as well as the corporate level. When
the responsible official has to sign under the required
certification language of the annual compliance certification,
we feel that he or she is compelled to hold plant
environmental issues to a higher degree of scrutiny than they

have in the past.
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The last benefit of the Title V program topic that
I will discuss today is the Title V fee. We feel that
Congress was correct to include a funding mechanism when this
program was conceived. Without this self-funding mechanism,
there"s no doubt that the department would not be able to
fulfill i1ts duties related to the Title V program and would
not be reaping the aboveformentioned benefits from the
program.

While our department has seen benefits arise from
the Title V program, we"ve also noted some negative aspects
that have hampered the effectiveness of this program or have
hampered our department®s ability to effectively and
efficiently manage this program.

Although combining all the requirements for a
facility into one document has its benefits, one negative
aspect of this is that it has also created lengthy and complex
documents. Some of the Title V permits we have issued exceed
300 pages in length. As you can imagine, a document this size
is very hard to navigate and hard to totally comprehend, not
only to the general public, but also for the regulating
community.

The Title V permit can also become very complex.
Trying to compose a sensible and logical permit or a facility
for which there are several national emission standards or

hazardous air pollutants or MACT standards applicable can be a
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daunting task. Compounding the complexity is the issue of
overlapping requirements. Think about an emissions unit that
underwent a PSD review that resulted in BACT limits that is
also subject to various NSPS, MACTs, and other state
regulations; it is very difficult to organize an
understandable permit that adequately covers all of these
requirements.

Another problem that our department has
encountered is providing an adequate level of detail for an
emission unit subject to a MACT standard. We have tried to
put as much detail for MACT into the permit as possible
without completely rewriting the MACT requirements into the
permit. We have also tried referencing the applicable
regulatory citations for MACT into the permit. With either of
these approaches, we have always been concerned about leaving
some minute detail out of the permit that could affect an
interpretation of the MACT requirement for that facility.

Secondly, the Title V program has drastically
increased the amount of the reporting and record keeping
required by the affected facility. As | said earlier, some
facilities are subject to multiple regulations, each of which
may have its own reporting and record keeping requirements.
The Title V permits require reports of deviations from permits
requirements on at least a semiannual basis. Some of these

deviations are considered excursions or exceedances under an
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applicable MACT which may require reporting under a different
time line from the deviation reporting of the Title V permit.

An example of this would be a source subject to a
MACT that requires reporting on a semiannual basis which is
based on a calendar year, and then you have the requirement to
submit a Title V semiannual monitoring report, or deviation
report, which is not based on a calendar year, that is, it"s
based on the issuance date of the Title V permit. Trying to
harmonize these reporting-time-line discrepancies while
meeting the requirements of both the underlying regulations
and the Title V regulations has been difficult. We have done
our best to try to eliminate duplicative reporting through the
wording of the permit, but that is not always possible.

Last, the modification procedures under the Title
V program have become complex and time consuming. It is also
difficult to determine exactly which type of modification
certain scenarios should proceed under. This is complicated
when companies have plants in more than one state and have
been given differing determinations in those other states
about what type of modifications are warranted in certain
situations. Significant modifications seem to have extended
the wait times for facilities to make certain modifications
that could have been accomplished in a shorter time frame
prior to the issuance of the Title V permit.

Under our system, a facility who holds a Title V
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permit and wishes to install a new emissions unit at the plant
can apply for and receive a free construction permit in a
relatively short time and apply to modify the Title V permit
within one year of the startup of that new unit. If that same
facility wanted to modify an emissions unit currently covered
by the Title V permit, and that modification was deemed
significant, that can lead to an extended time before the
company could actually operate under the new requirements.
The differences iIn the way these two permitting actions can be
handled demonstrates that much of the procedure for modifying
the Title V permits need to be eliminated or changed.

I thank you for the opportunity to provide our
department®s thoughts about the Title V program, and I*1l1 be

happy to attempt to answer any questions that you may have at

this time.

MR. HARNETT: Thank you.

Bernie Paul.

MR. PAUL: Hello, Jeff. This is Bernie Paul with
ElIi Lilly. |I"m asking the same question of a lot of states

because 1"m interested in this issue, and that"s, 1°d like to
hear your description of the types of deviations and
violations that are being reported in the periodic reports,
whether they®"re quarterly or semiannual, and the annual
compliance certifications.

So if you could describe whether they®re mostly
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record keeping, recording, mostly emission violations, or some
other nature, 1"d appreciate hearing about that.

MR. KITCHENS: Well, 1 think we"re probably seeing
a mixture of all types of deviations and excursions reported.
However, it seems like a lot of them, a lot of the deviations
reports coming in, could be record keeping and monitoring
types of situations, where it may not be a violation, but
where they just had a deviation from some permit requirement.

MR. HARNETT: Verena Owen.

MS. OWEN: Hi, this is Verena Owen with Lake
County Conservation Alliance.

You didn"t mention anything about public
participation in Alabama. |1 wonder if you could, please?

MR. KITCHENS: To what specifically would you
like me to go into about public participation?

MS. OWEN: For instance, do you hold hearings?
What is the threshold? Do you use charts for Freedom of
Information Act? Things like that.

MR. KITCHENS: Public participation in our state
has been up and down, I guess you could say. OFf course, we"re
required to hold public-comment periods for all the permits
just like every other state. We hold public hearings when we
receive significant comments that are directly determined
warrant a public hearing.

MS. OWEN: Excuse me, | don"t think I understood



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

71

that. Could you repeat that?

MR. KITCHENS: For public hearings?

MS. OWEN: Yeah.

MR. KITCHENS: We hold public hearings when we
receive significant relevant comments on the permitting action
that lead our directors to believe that a public hearing is
warranted.

MS. OWEN: So you have to receive those comments
first and then you hold a public hearing?

MR. KITCHENS: Typically, yes.

MS. OWEN: Okay.

MR. KITCHENS: And as far as the Freedom of
Information Act, we put the -- we put our statement of basis,
public comments, and public notice in the draft permit on our
website which can be downloaded free of charge. If you have
to review the file, that"s done through our records management
division, and we usually do charge a nominal fee for any
copying costs.

MS. OWEN: How much would that nominal fee be?

MR. KITCHENS: 30 cents a page.

MS. OWEN: Do you have a waiver?

MR. KITCHENS: We don"t charge for anything 33
pages and under.

MS. OWEN: 33 pages?

MR. KITCHENS: Basically a $10 threshold.
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MS. OWEN: Going back to the hearing, 1'm a little
bit confused that the public has to submit significant
comments First and then have a hearing.

Is there an additional public-comment period after
the hearing, or why do you hold a hearing after you receive
comments?

MR. KITCHENS: Well, we feel like if we can -- if
the public has comments and submits those comments during
public-comment period, and we can adequately address those

concerns, we see no need to hold a public hearing.

Let me clarify a little bit. In their comments,
they have to specifically request a public hearing. It"s just
not -- we don"t do it if we receive a large number of

comments. The commenters (sic) have to specifically request
to hold a public hearing.

MS. OWEN: How many hearings have you had?

MR. KITCHENS: For Title V permits?

MS. OWEN: Yeah, the last year or two.

MR. KITCHENS: 1 can"t remember any.

MS. OWEN: Thank you.

MR. HARNETT: Adan Schwartz.

MR. SCHWARTZ: Hi. Adan Schwartz with the Bay
Area Air District.

Has Alabama -- my question goes to periodic

monitoring. Has Alabama developed its own guidance on
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periodic monitoring, or has it been entirely case by case?
And do you want to just comment generally on your experience
with that aspect of the program.

MR. KITCHENS: 1 would say it"s typically been
case by case based on the actual emissions as compared to the
allowable emission rate. We developed it on a case-by-case
basis. We"re set up a little different in the fact that our
engineers and scientists typically deal with one specific type
of industry.

For example, 1 have one engineer who does the
permitting and inspections of the electric utilities. So that
allows us to be consistent across all of that specific-type
industry with the periodic monitoring.

MR. HARNETT: Mike Wood.

MR. WOOD: Thanks, Jeff. This is Mike Wood with
Weyerhaeuser Company. Thank you for taking time to call in
today.-

I just have a quick question about insignificant
emissions, emission units, and how those are incorporated into
your permits and what level of monitoring or record keeping
you think is appropriate for those.

MR. KITCHENS: For insignificant emissions units,
that"s one (inaudible) found potential emission in the past
were Ffive times the criteria pollutants, they are not even

included in the Title V permit but are listed only in the
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application.

MR. WOOD: Thank you.

MR. HARNETT: Shannon Broome.

MS. BROOME: Hi, Jeff. Thanks for joining us
today. This is Shannon Broome.

I wanted to ask you, you guys are using the long
form for compliance certification, right?

MR. KITCHENS: 1 don"t think it"s exactly the long
form that EPA has developed, but it"s something very similar.

MS. BROOME: And were you told by Region 4 that
that"s required, or did you just come up with that on your
own?

MR. KITCHENS: 1It"s pretty much been the same form
that we"ve been using ever since the Title V program started.

MS. BROOME: And is there a reason that you
require certification with provisions that impose no
obligations on the source; for example, just generic
provisions that say: this permit conveys no property rights
that may require certification with that.

MR. KITCHENS: Typically, you know, we don"t
require that. You know, that"s an understood item, and, you
know, is directly applicable to the requirement in the annual
compliance certification. A lot of people will list that
requirement because it is in the Title V permit, and they are

required to certify compliance with each provision, but we
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ask -- typically people will note that no certification is
required on that item.

MS. BROOME: Thanks.

MR. HARNETT: Ray Vogel.

MR. VOGEL: Ray Vogel with the EPA air office.

The question is about periodic monitoring and
testing. Do you typically require, or have you required,
testing when you create periodic monitoring; say, some idea of
how frequently that occurs?

MR. KITCHENS: Again, we developed our periodic
monitoring on a case-by-case basis and we take into account
what the actual emissions will be or what the applicant is
thinking what the actual emission will be as compared to the
allowable emission rate. We take that into account. If we
think it"s going to be close, then, yes, we would require some
testing and maybe some testing at a future date. We verify
that. And it"s done on a case-by-case basis, and | really
couldn™t comment on the percentage of time we do that.

MR. VOGEL: You don"t have any prohibition from
your SIP or state law that puts limits on discretion of the
director to require testing?

MR. KITCHENS: Actually, our SIP says that we can
require testing at any time.

MR. VOGEL: Okay. Thank you.

MR. HARNETT: Marcie Keever.
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MS. KEEVER: Hi, Jeff. Marcie Keever with Our
Children®s Earth. You mentioned CAM monitoring, and I™m
wondering 1f you have any examples. And you said something
about sometimes the state requires more monitoring.

I*m wondering if you have examples of that or
situations where either no monitoring was required and you
required monitoring, or where you felt that monitoring wasn"t
sufficient to assure compliance, and that was put in permits.

MR. KITCHENS: Well, we have some state
regulations that we"ve never required much monitoring for, and
through the Title V permit, we have included periodic
monitoring, and some of those situations will be actually
addressed, compliance-assurance-monitoring provisions. |
don"t have any specific examples for you.

MS. KEEVER: So you guys -- you don"t know if you
have any examples of whether you found a case where
monitoring, while it was there, wasn"t sufficient to assure
compliance and that you actually increased the monitoring of

the facility?

MR. KITCHENS: 1 don"t have any examples of that,
no. 1 can"t think back and think of a case where that has
happened. I couldn"t say definitely.

MR. HARNETT: Shelley Kaderly, do you have any
questions?

MS. KADERLY: No, 1 don"t. Thank you.
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MR. HARNETT: Thank you very much, Jeff.

MR. KITCHENS: Thank you.

MR. HARNETT: Heather Abrams, are you on?

MS. ABRAMS: Yes, I am.

MR. HARNETT: Heather is with the Georgia
Environmental Protection Division.

And if you hadn®"t been on before, you have 15
minutes for your presentation. | will interrupt at the
two-minute mark and let you know when you have two minutes
left, and then we"ll have about 15 minutes of questions.

IT you could speak slowly and clearly. We have a
court reporter trying to take all of this information down.
Thank you.

MS. ABRAMS: Okay. My name is Heather Abrams. |
am the permitting program manager for the Georgia
Environmental Protection Division, air branch, and 1
appreciate the opportunity to give Georgia®s views of the
Title V program.

First 1°d like to say that Georgia fully supports
the concept of the Title V. We feel that the single-document
approach that includes all the requirements is a very good
program. The Title V program has had numerous success
stories, not only the consolidation of applicable requirements
has great benefits, but also to process the developing

operating permit has produced significant improvements. The
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application process has resulted in facilities identifying
undocumented sources and emissions and better quantifying
emissions from these facilities. Permitting agencies have
identified new major facilities as well as those that no
longer operate.

The Title V process has also resulted in in-depth
file reviews performed by the division. Through this research
and documentation, we now have a precise and thorough
permitting history for the Title V source. This has been
essential not only for developing site-specific permitting
requirements, but also for years to come when the current
permitting staff is no longer here to provide the history. In
addition, permits have been made more accurate by deletion or
revision of language in old permits that was outdated,
inapplicable, and not clear. Noncompliant units were
discovered during the application process and were the subject
of corrective action. Reexamination of requirements in old
permits has also led to enhanced practical enforceability.

Another benefit of the operating permit program
has been that a significant number of major sources have
voluntarily restricted their operating condition and in some
cases installed pollution controls in order to reduce
emissions and avoid Title V altogether. This development,
which may not have been anticipated, is similar to the

environmental benefit that is achieved with sources install
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controls, take other limiting action, in order that their
emissions not be subject to New Source Review requirement such
as the MACT standard. Over the last 15 years, Georgia has
developed and implemented the Title V program. After many
growing pains, we feel we have developed a (inaudible)
program. However, to maintain such a program, it is time to
reevaluate the program as a whole. With that in mind, I1°d
like to discuss some of Georgia®s main concerns with the
program.

While the Title V permits have consolidated all
regulations and requirements into one document, it has created
enormous permits that are often confusing and hard to manage,
not only by the facility, but also by our staff and the
general public. To the greatest extent possible, permits
should be written clearly and simply if we are to communicate
with the regulating community and the public effectively. One
of the problems we sometimes find in permits is incorporation
of the MACT requirement. |In general, Georgia has tried to
incorporate only those sections of each MACT that actually
apply to the specific source. While this helps eliminate
extraneous requirements that do not apply, it takes a
considerable amount of time for the MACT department to do
this. Also, no matter how streamlined we try to include the
MACT standards, they are often confusing to the general

public.
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In addition, clear guidance from EPA to assist the
state and local agencies in clarification of certain terms,
such as periodic monitoring, inherent process equipment to
support facilities. Such guidance from EPA would not only
reduce the amount of negotiating of permit terms, it would
also assure national consistency of interpretation of periodic
monitoring requirements, such as whether the Title V permits
should require periodic monitoring above what is specified in
an NSPS standard. Modifying these permits can be excessively
burdensome.

Currently, significant modifications require a
lengthy period of at least 75 days before the source can begin
to operate. We are under great pressure to turn around
permits quickly, and it is hard to do so when there is a
built-in 75-day review hearing. We do commend EPA Region 4°s
effort in aiding when necessary to fast-track a permit.
However, we strongly urge EPA to streamline the current
process for significant modification across the board.

In addition, just trying to determine what type of
modification needs to be done, whether it be administrative
amendment under modification or significant modification, it"s
often confusing, not only for our staff, but industry as well.
It would help if there are better guidance on the types of
modifications or more streamlined approach to the

modifications.
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Another challenge is public participation. We
understand the value of good public participation; however,
the public often does not understand the limited scope of the
Title V program and is often frustrated when the permitting
authority does not reopen issues decided in a
previously-issued permit. These proceedings are often
resource intensive with no benefits. The comments we receive
at public meetings and hearings most often deal with the
public not wanting to source to operate in their area in
general. Industry can take the lead in many of these
situations, holding public meetings and reaching out to the
community leaders, to benefit not only the public”s
understanding of Title V, but also demonstrate to the
community the facility"s desires to be a good neighbor.

In addition, it could help speed the permitting
process by limiting the number of extraneous comments that we
have to respond to. With the issuance of the initial Title V,
Georgia was hit with an onslaught of appeals by facilities
over their Title V permits. This has been a very
resource-intensive endeavor, often ending up negotiating
permit language and taking more than a year to come to an
agreement. 1In a few cases, we have had to go to court and
have a judge decide the fate of the permit.

In addition, various groups have submitted

petitions to EPA to object to several of Georgia®s Title V
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permits. This has also been resource intensive. When EPA
receives a petition under 40 CFR 70.8(z), the petition should
be reviewed in accordance with Paragraph D, which requires any
such petition shall be based only on objections to the permit
that were raised with reasonable specificity during the
public-comment period.

Paragraph D further states that if the
administrator objects to the permit as a result of the
petition. These statements taken together mean EPA should
review petitions based on the content of the petition. We
urge EPA to discontinue the practice of revisiting the entire
permitting action, as they have been doing, and review only
the issues raised during the public-comment period.

Finally, with respect to EPA"s review of the Title
V petitions requesting EPA to object to issuance of a Title V
permit. The Clean Ailr Act, Section 502(b)(2), requires EPA
grant or deny such petition within 60 days after the petition
is filed. The EPA is woefully deficient with respect
to the Clean Air Act requirement. These two items, not
limiting petitions to only items presented during the
public-comment period and not responding to petitions within
60 days, are causing states to expend enormous resources
addressing EPA requests more than a year after the Title V
petition has been submitted.

Most of the issues are based on issues not raised
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in the public-comment period. Approximately 14 petitions to
object to Georgia-issued Title V permits have been filed with
EPA. The average length of time for a response from EPA has
been about one year, and we still have three pending petitions
which are all over three years old. The majority of the
petitions and appeals have involved concerns about monitoring
frequency and stringency in the Title V that have been
developed on a case-by-case basis for individual permits.
Meanwhile, reinterpretations of Part 70,
Monitoring Provisions, pursuant to settlement of a lawsuit,
has left permitting authorities no federal gap-filling
monitoring for permits or renewals of permits; when, iIn the
jJudgement of permitting agency, such monitoring requirements
might be needed. This should be remedied promptly. And over
the longer term, we urge EPA to systematically reevaluate and
re-provide pre-1990 federal standards such that meet the
requirements of periodic and compliance-assurance monitoring.
One thing that has resolved as a result of the
Title V process, and as a state agency we would not like to
see changed, is that permitting agencies developed programs
that best meet the needs of their state. These state-specific
programs developed because of the lack of specificity in the
federal rules and EPA guidance on many aspects of Title V.
Title V programs should continue to allow flexibility so that

states can design a program to best suit their needs.
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In conclusion, Georgia believes the Title V
program has great benefits. It is just in need of
streamlining with a common-sense approach. Georgia fully
supports the comments given by Mr. Jack Broadband (phonetic)
on behalf of STAPPA/ALAPCO. That concludes my testimony.
Thank you for the opportunity to present Georgia®s experience
with the Title V program, and 1°d be more than happy to answer
any questions.

MR. HARNETT: Marcie --

MS. KEEVER: Oh, no. 1I"m sorry.

MR. HARNETT: Callie Videtich.

MS. VIDETICH: Hi, Heather. This is Callie
Videtich. 1 work in EPA Region 8 in Denver, and | have a
couple questions for you, please, about petitions.

MS. ABRAMS: Okay.

MS. VIDETICH: You said that Region 4 had worked
on petitions, but that they had reviewed the permits more in
depth than the actual petition asked them to.

Can you give me an example or two of the permits
that the region did that on?

MS. ABRAMS: Yes. Actually, one permit in
particular, and we"re still in the process of working through
it with EPA, is Cargil (phonetic), in which, when they looked
at the permit, they went outside the record and said that we

should have -- there was a particular report called a Power"s
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Report that they said that we should have looked at. That
report did not come out until after the permit was developed.
So we would not have had access to it.

MS. VIDETICH: Do you have another example?

MS. ABRAMS: That"s the one that has been the most
pressing for us. 1"m sure | could find some other examples
for you, but that"s the one that has been the most critical
for us.

MS. VIDETICH: 1If you could, if you submit written
testimony, could you supply that?

MS. ABRAMS: 1 sure can.

MS. VIDETICH: And, also, another question for
you, did the region work with you guys on an informal basis as
they were putting the response to the petition together?

MS. ABRAMS: They did. They asked us a couple of
questions, and, unfortunately, that actually became part of
the formal records which we were not anticipating. We were
jJust doing an informal knowledge exchange, and it got pulled
into the formal proceeding.

MS. VIDETICH: Does that mean you would
participate in an informal process again, or did you feel like
you got burned because of that?

MS. ABRAMS: No, we would still participate in an
informal process. 1 still fully believe that that is in the

best interest of both us and EPA to continue that type of
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relationship. | think in this particular case it"s just one
of those series of unfortunate events.

MS. VIDETICH: Okay. Thank you.

MR. HARNETT: Keri Powell.

MS. POWELL: This is Keri Powell from the New York
Public Interest Research Group. You mentioned some
frustration with EPA"s reinterpretation of the Part 70
monitoring requirements and mentioned the settlement that
eliminated the state"s gap-filling ability, and | just wanted
clarification from you.

Do you feel like EPA"s policy is interfering with
your state®"s ability to include monitoring and permits that"s
sufficient to assure compliance?

MS. ABRAMS: We are finding that we end up in
appeal situations, where companies will appeal any monitoring
that we put in, and they will use the EPA guidance to say that
we cannot do that.

So it has just put us In a quandary, as we feel
the monitoring needs to be there. But industry pushes back
saying: EPA doesn"t; you can"t put it in there.

MR. HARNETT: Ray Vogel.

MR. VOGEL: Ray Vogel, EPA air office. 1 was
wanting to know if the appeals were solely due to the
periodic-monitoring issue, the appeal of the monitoring that

you put in the permit, or if they have to do with other issues
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such as errors that crop up in the permit and how you deal
with those kinds of problems?

MS. ABRAMS: No. The majority of them were due to
monitoring provisions.

MR. VOGEL: AIll right. Then, also, you mentioned
some problem regarding -- which I wasn"t quite following --
MACT -- the inability of MACT to meet periodic monitoring and
CAM, or some guidance of EPA or revisions that EPA might need

to do to make sure that the MACT monitoring meets those

levels.

Could you clarify that?

MS. ABRAMS: It wasn™t in response to the MACT. 1
may have misspoke. It was for more like the NSPS standards.
MACT we feel is -- those are good standards. We have

sufficient monitoring.

MR. VOGEL: All right. Thank you.

MR. HARNETT: Steve Hagle.

MR. HAGLE. Hi, Heather. 1"m Steve Hagle from
Texas, and | wanted to explore with you a little bit more
about one of the Ffirst statements you made about going back
and adding or deleting language in old permits as part of the
Title V program.

Do you actually go into those NSR permits and
modify them, and I guess your statute allows you the authority

to do that?
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MS. ABRAMS: Not our NSR permits. |If it"s an NSR
or a PSD, those limits and the requirements around those
limits are not changed. But just for a major source that has
not gone through PSD or NSR, we have found that there®s errors
in limits or the requirements were not clear as to what we
intended the facility to do. And those are the cases where we
go in and clean it up.

We also have had some cases where what we
required, they just don®"t have to do anymore. There"s better
ways to do it, and the facility is already doing It a better
way. So we incorporate the better requirements in. But for
our NSR and PSD permits, we do not change the underlying limit
in monitoring for those.

MR. HAGLE: So, I™"m sorry, you kind of lost me.
What permit, then, are you cleaning up?

MS. ABRAMS: Well, not all of our permits are NSR
or PSD. As a matter of fact, very few of them are. The
majority of our sources are just major Title V sources, and
they don"t have PSC or NSR limitations in them.

MR. HAGLE: Okay. But do they have underlying
state permit requirements, minor NSR --

MS. ABRAMS: Yes, yes. They have underlying state
requirements, and our state rules have revamped over the
years, and we clean them up to reflect the new language.

MR. HAGLE: So you can go into those underlying
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state minor New Source Review permits and make those changes.

MS. ABRAMS: Yes, we can.

MR. HAGLE: Okay. And then the last -- the other
question I had is, you made a statement, that you said that
the permit does not always understand the limited scope of
Title V.

Have you all made any efforts to hold training or
any kind of outreach to educate the public on what the Title V
process is meant to do?

MS. ABRAMS: Oh, yes, we have. As a matter of
fact, I1"m leaving here in about 30 minutes to go do just
that. We have -- what we do is, If we think there"s an
interest -- like tonight what I"m doing has to do with our
Georgia Power and just try to educate the public. Right now
we"re doing renewals, and we"re trying to educate them as to
what a renewal is, what it can and what it can"t do. And we
held similar types of public meetings, or public
question-and-answer sessions, when we were doing the initial
Title V as well.

So we are using our public relations folks quite a
bit to try to get the word out there what the Title V can and
cannot do and hopefully limit the comments that we receive
during the official public-comment period to those that are
actually pertinent to the permitting action at hand.

MR. HAGLE: Can you -- if you"re going to submit
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written comments, could you describe some of those activities
that you"ve had in a little more detail?

MS. ABRAMS: Sure.

MR. HAGLE: Thank you.

MR. HARNETT: Bob Palzer.

MR. PALZER: Thank you for calling in and giving
some very good information on programs in your state. |1°m Bob
Palzer from the Sierra Club.

IT 1 heard you correctly, I believe you were
saying that the EPA should limit their comments to those
issues that were raised during the comment period and not deal
with other issues.

Was that -- did 1 hear you correctly?

MS. ABRAMS: When they"re addressing our petition,
yes.

MR. PALZER: Okay. That"s only in reference to
your petition.

MS. ABRAMS: That"s only in reference to the
petition, not when they“"re -- not when they do their review of
the actual permit.

MR. PALZER: Okay. 1"m glad to hear that.

In addition to doing the public outreach that
you"re trying to do, how do you give public notice to
interested -- to people that might be iInterested?

Do you use the Internet, or do you e-mail
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interested parties, or are you just limiting your activities
to putting things in publications?

MS. ABRAMS: We actually do a combination of
several of those. We post it on our website. We have a
listing of people we notify anytime that we hold a public
meeting. And like, for instance, in your case, Sierra Club is
on that list, and they got a notification anytime that we have
one of these public meetings.

We also do outreach in the communities
themselves. We usually have a pretty good indication of those
folks in the area that are interested, either through past
comments that we received or complaints that we received in
that area. And we have the phone numbers and addresses, and
we"ll send them letters to let them know. Especially if
someone s requesting us to have a public hearing, which is
different than our question-and-answer, we go ahead and we"ll
have a meeting to do the question-and-answer well in advance
of holding a hearing, and we contact those individuals that
have requested the hearing to make sure that they"re involved.
And then we also put a notice in the legal organ for that area
letting people know what we"re doing.

MR. PALZER: Thank you very much.

MS. ABRAMS: You"re welcome.

MR. HARNETT: Bernie Paul?

MR. PAUL: This is Bernie Paul with Eli Lilly,
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Heather. Thank you for your comments. | have a couple
questions for you.

One deals with the compliance reports that your
agency receives from sources, whether it"s quarterly or
semiannually, periodic report, or the annual compliance
certification, 1"m kind of curious to hear your perspective on
the nature of the deviations that are reported in those
documents, whether they"re mostly record keeping, reporting,
monitoring, or excess-emission-type deviations.

And the other question | have deals with your
experience in trying to streamline or accommodate where you
have an emission unit or emission source that is subject to
multiple overlapping emission-control requirements, like maybe
a unit is subject to a MACT rule, an NSPS, and a RACT rule.

How do you deal with those? |If you could answer
the compliance-report question first, and then the issue about
the overlapping requirements. Thank you.

MS. ABRAMS: Okay. And I will try to answer the
compliance report one. The way Georgia is set up, we have a
permitting group, and we have a compliance group. And I"m
head of the permitting group, and the compliance group is the
one that receives all our reports and does the inspections
based on the permit. And from listening to them and working
very closely with them, the deviations that I generally hear

about have to do with record-keeping violations or
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deviations. That"s generally what we hear. And then, again,
they often usually have some shutdown malfunction, excess
emissions, that will occur and get reported. But from what 1
have heard, the majority of them do have to do with the record
keeping and reporting. 1 hope that kind of helps. Again,
that"s not the part that 1"m directly over.

MR. PAUL: That"s the kind of answer I was -- the
type of description 1 was hoping to hear. Thank you.

MS. ABRAMS: Okay. As far as the streamlining, we
have worked very very hard on this. 1 have a lot of direct
experience with pulp and paper mills, and they have numerous
regulations that overlap, especially for Georgia, because we
have pulp/paper state rules as well. And what we have
generally tried to do is to lay out all the regulations for a
specific piece of equipment, and where there®s overlap, we
take the most stringent, and we"ll put that in the permit, and
we" 1l say that the others have been subsumed; or this is the
most stringent requirement, that"s why this one shows up in
the permit.

But we detail all of that out in our statement of
basis, so that anyone that looks at it will know that these
other regulations, they are applicable, but this one is the
most stringent, and that is why it shows up in the permit.
When we have cases where the -- maybe the averaging periods

don"t quite match up, so, you know, on a shorter time frame,



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

94

one may be more stringent than the other, we generally put
both of those in. But it has been a challenge to do that.

MR. HARNETT: David Golden.

MR. GOLDEN: Hi, Heather. Thank you for your time
this afternoon. A quick question about deviation reporting.

As you know, Part 70, specifically,
70.6(a)(iii)(B), requires the state to define "prompt"
according to the degree and type of deviation likely to occur.

I was just curious as to how Georgia has
approached that in defining the definition of "prompt" for
deviation reporting in your Title V permits.

MS. ABRAMS: 1 know that one of our reporting --
I"m trying to think because | don"t have one sitting here in
front of me. We do have language in our permit that details
when a deviation needs to be reported to us. There®"s one that
has to be reported within four hours, and there"s another one
that"s within seven days. And then for -- and I believe both
of those have to do directly with excess emissions.

IT it"s a deviation in the reporting or record
keeping, then they just notify us either in their semiannual
report or their annual compliance certification.

MR. GOLDEN: Thank you.

MR. HARNETT: Shannon Broome.

MS. BROOME: Hi. This is Shannon Broome from the

Air Permitting Forum. | wanted to follow up on the
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incorporation of MACT issues because a lot of people have
raised that. And you talked about the enormous permits, and
hard to manage, and then you talked about that you®ve put in
only the sections of each MACT that apply.-

And 1 wondered if -- two things about that. One
is, If you find yourselves making errors when you translate
those in so that what actually ends up in the permit sometimes
is different than what"s in the MACT?

And then the second thing is, are you restricting
the otherwise available compliance options for the source when
you do that, so that they would have to get a Title V revision
in order to use the flexibility that"s in the MACT standard?

MS. ABRAMS: Yes to both. We have found
ourselves, when we try to paraphrase or kick out just those
pieces that fit, we have found that we"ve made errors. And
when we have, we try to correct those as quickly as we
possibly can. Generally we catch them during the comment
period, which helps because those -- we can adjust them
without having to go through another permitting action. And
it a company is very adamant that it"s wrong and somehow it
still makes it in there, if we end up in an appeal situation,
we do try to work with the company to resolve that without
going to court. We try to resolve it before we get into an
appeal situation.

With regard to limiting the options, yes, that
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has happened, particularly again with the pulp mills. Under
the Subpart F (inaudible) rule, there"s three or four
different options listed, and we have essentially made them
choose which options they“"re going to use. If not, on any
given day, our compliance officers have a very hard time going
out and knowing if a facility is in compliance or not based
on, you know, different options.

IT the option is spelled out in the format, it
gives them certainty to what our inspectors have to look for.
However, whenever a facility has requested the change, one of
the options -- and we have had that happen -- we try to
expedite those permits as quickly as possible so as not to
adversely affect the facility.

MS. BROOME: And you don®t think the record
keeping that"s provided in the MACT is sufficient?

MS. ABRAMS: Not in all cases, no.

MS. BROOME: 1If you have examples of that, I1*d
appreciate it.

MS. ABRAMS: Okay.

MR. HARNETT: Don van der Vaart.

MR. VAN DER VAART: This is Don van der Vaart with
North Carolina. 1 wasn"t sure | heard. You were talking
about adding monitoring in the context of the recent EPA
policy.

Were you saying that the argument had been made
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that that policy prohibited your adding monitoring in all
cases or iIn just those cases where the underlying requirement
already contained monitoring?

MS. ABRAMS: Where the underlying requirement
already contained monitoring.

MR. VAN DER VAART: Okay. So you“re still
gap-filling as --

MS. ABRAMS: Yes, we are still gap-filling where
there is no monitoring -- underlying monitor.

MR. VAN DER VAART: Okay. Thanks.

MR. HARNETT: Keri Powell.

MS. POWELL: Do you happen to know what percentage
of your Title V permits EPA is reviewing, actually reviewing,
and can you tell me how many permits EPA has objected to on
its own accord in the absence of a petition?

MS. ABRAMS: 1 don"t know the percentage that they
actually review. 1 know they review all of our targeted
permits. Past that, 1 don"t know.

As far as objected to, as far as 1 can recall, 1|
do not believe that we"ve had any that have been objected to.
I believe we have worked it out with EPA before we reach that
point.

MS. POWELL: Thank you.

MR. HARNETT: Bob Hodanbosi.

MR. HODANBOSI: Hello, Heather. This is Bob
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Hodanbosi. Just a couple quick questions.

One concerning your fees. What are your fees?

MS. ABRAMS: $32.50 per ton.

MR. HODANBOSI: And that®"s on actual emissions,
right?

MS. ABRAMS: Yes.

MR. HODANBOSI: And overall 1 thought your state
was doing pretty good with your permit-issuance rate.

MS. ABRAMS: We have issued all of our initial
Title V, and we"re into the renewals now. And we"re --
actually, we"re starting to slide a little bit on our renewals
because of significant modifications to the Title V. The
facilities are more concerned about getting their construction
permit than they are about getting their renewal permit.

MR. HODANBOSI: Okay. But I thought you had
completed your initial ones.

MS. ABRAMS: Yes, we have completed our initials.

MR. HODANBOSI: Thank you.

MR. HARNETT: Shelley Kaderly, do you have any
questions?

MS. KADERLY: No, 1 don"t. Thank you.

MR. HARNETT: Thanks very much for your time,
Heather.

MS. ABRAMS: Thank you.

MR. HARNETT: Is Amy Mann on?
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MR. HARNETT: This is Bill Harnett. 1 can tell

already you"re going to need to speak up a bit, at least from

99

your First indication, In order for us to hear you in the room

and get all the comments down.

MS. MANN: Okay. Is that better?

MR. HARNETT: That is better.

Amy Mann with Delaware Department of Natural
Resources.

This is Bill Harnett. 1 will give you a
warning -- you have 15 minutes for your presentation. 1711
give you a warning at the two-minute mark. And then
afterwards we will have about 15 minutes of questions. Go
right ahead.

MS. MANN: Good morning. My name is Amy Mann.
I"m a management analyst for the Air Quality Management
Section of Delaware"s Department of Natural Resources and
Environmental Control. The section appreciates this
opportunity to comment on our experiences with the successes
of the Title V program and to raise awareness from areas we

believe need improvement.

While we"ve experienced some problems, overall the

Title V program has been beneficial to us. These problems and

benefits will be further outlined in my testimony which is

broken into two sections. First, benefits of Title V, and
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then areas needing improvement.

Section No. 1, the benefits of Title V, Benefit
No. 1. While this has been widely recognized, we would like
to emphasize that Title V permits have resulted in more
streamlined compliance determinations for both the agency and
the regulating community. Delaware has a minor New Source
Review program that has been in effect since the 1970s.
Before Title V, many larger facilities in the state had
multiple permits, many with ten or more. Each of these
permits could have testing, monitoring, reporting, and
calibration requirements.

In many instances, these requirements were not
coordinated between the permits, making it difficult for
facilities to develop easily-implemented schedules. It was
also difficult for the agency to determine compli